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I.  What is Consumer Law?
SOB.  Summarize the objectives and means by which the federal and state government provide consumer protection.

A.  Broadly defined as “the law regulating consumer transactions.”

1.  Includes laws, administrative agency work, and the work of courts.

2.  A “curious mix of the old and the new” it includes BOTH

a.  Established doctrines from common law (especially contracts) AND

(1)  Sometimes modified by statute/regulation.

(2)  Sometimes applied more favorably by decision-making bodies.

(3)  Have sometimes proved inadequate.

b.  Statutory and judicial innovations to protect consumers.

(1)  Sometimes modify common law contract/commercial law rule.

(2)  Sometimes wholly new substantive rights in consumer.

B.  Objectives 

1.  Primary Objective.  Balance the interests of consumer and merchant.

2.  Underlying assumption is that, without protection, consumer is at a disadvantage.

3.  Sees law as a counterbalance to the inherent advantages of the merchant.

C.  Primary Means.  Give special protection to the consumer in the form of:

1.  Information/Disclosures

2.  Limitations on behavior (e.g. cannot disclaim warranties)

D.  The Players

1.  Both State & Federal Legislative Bodies

2.  State & Federal Administrative Bodies, e.g. The Attorney General’s Office:

a.
Investigation

b.
Injunctive Relief

c.
Restitution

d.
Civil Penalties 


E.  The Federal Trade Commission (FTC)

1.  FTC regulations prohibit unfair and deceptive trade practices and acts.  The FTC has responsibility for enforcing a number of consumer protection statutes.  The FTC also enforces approximately 30 rules governing specific industries and practices, e.g., the Used Car Rule, 16 C.F.R. Part 455, which requires used car dealers to disclose warranty terms via a window sticker; the Franchise Rule; 16 C.F.R. Part 436, which requires the provision of information to prospective franchisees; and, the Telemarketing Sales Rule, 16 C.F.R. Part 310, which defines and prohibits deceptive telemarketing practices and other abusive telemarketing practices:

a.  Interprets/Enforces Federal Reserve Board Rules

b.  Develops its own rules & “standards”

c.  Enforcement of FTC Act (and others)

d.  Investigation

e.  Adjudication

f.  Database Access Forthcoming

g.  WEB SITE:  www.ftc.gov
2.  There are two primary ways that the FTC enforces the FTCA:  The FTC may pursue such acts or practices through administrative litigation that may ultimately result in the issuance of a cease and desist order.  15 U.S.C. § 45(a).  In addition, the FTC is empowered to file law enforcement actions in federal district courts to obtain preliminary and permanent injunctive relief, restitution for injured consumers, and, where restitution is not practicable, disgorgement of ill-gotten gains from fraud operators. 15 U.S.C. § 53(b).

II.  Analyzing Consumer Protection Problems

SOB:  Recognize to which aspect of consumer law protection a given statute applies.

In considering a consumer law problem, the attorney must consider all aspects of the transaction and use all available protections/solutions to develop the most effective course of action for the client.

A.  The Transaction.  The first thing to consider is the way the transaction took place.  Depending on where it took place, or the sales techniques used, federal and state laws may offer the consumer some protection. 

1.  FTC Door-to-Door Sales Rule

2.  FTC Telemarketing Rule

3.  Truth in Lending Act cooling-off period

4.  Unconscionability/Traditional Contract Law.  Legal assistance practitioners should re-familiarize themselves with basic contract theories to aid in their consumer protection work.

5.  Unfair and Deceptive Acts and Practices (UDAP) laws.

B.  The Goods.  The second place to look for possible help is the goods themselves.  There may be some deficiency in the quality of the goods that will allow your client to take advantage of some protections.

1.  Magnuson-Moss Warranty Act, 15 U.S.C. §§ 2301-12.  The Magnuson-Moss Warranty Act also may be helpful.  Under this federal law, a consumer can sue based on breach of express warranties, implied warranties, or a service contract.  If successful, consumers can recover reasonable attorneys' fees and court costs.

2.  Uniform Commercial Code Warranty Provisions (§§ 2-312 - 2-318)

3.  State Warranty Laws/”Lemon” Laws

C.  The Payment.  The next area to look for protection for you client is to look at how the client paid for the goods.  For many transactions, this will be some form of credit transaction.   

1.  Truth-in-lending Act

2.  Fair Credit Billing Act

3.  Equal Credit Opportunity Act

4.  Electronic Funds Transfer Act

D.  The Aftermath.  For complete analysis and advice, an attorney must think through all of the implications of the advice he/she gives.  For credit transactions, the client should be advised of the ramifications the course of action he/she chooses will have on possible collection activity and his credit rating.  

1.  Fair Credit Reporting Act

2.  Fair Debt Collection Practices Act

E.  Specific Protections.  There may be client situations that, while not falling within a specific transaction, have remedies under federal law.  Some of these issues are military specific, such as putting areas off limits.

III.  Cooling-Off Period for Door-To-Door Sales (a.k.a. Rule Concerning Cooling-Off Period For Sales Made At Homes Or At Certain Other Locations).

SOB.  Explain the requirements and mechanics of the Cooling Off period for Door-to-Door sales.

SOB:  Identify and explain situations in which the cooling off period does not apply
A.  References.

1.  16 C.F.R. 429.

2.  National Consumer Law Center, Unfair and Deceptive Acts and Practices, § 5.8 (4th Ed. 1997 and 1998 Cumulative Supplement).

B.  General.

1.  Rule grants unilateral right to rescind consumer purchase contracts for three business days following a door-to-door sale.

2.  Rule contains disclosure requirements and notice requirements.

C.  Definitions & Exclusions.

1.  Door-to-door Sale.  

a.  Sale lease or rental...

b.  ...of consumer goods and services...

c.  ...with a total purchase price of $25.00 or more...

d.  ...personally solicited by the seller...

e.  ...at a place other than the permanent place of business of the seller.  1995 Amendments added an annotation to the definition that includes the following examples:

(1)  Buyer’s residence;

(2)  Facilities rented on a temporary or short-term basis including hotel or motel rooms, convention centers, fairgrounds, restaurants;

(3)  Sales at the buyer’s workplace;

(4)  Sales in dormitory lounges.

2.  Business day:  Any day except Sundays and federal holidays.  Saturdays are business days.  The current federal holidays are New Year's Day, Martin Luther King, Jr.’s Birthday, Presidents Day, Memorial Day, Independence Day, Labor Day, Columbus Day, Veteran's Day, Thanksgiving and Christmas.

3.  Exclusions.

a.  Pre-arranged visits after initial contact at a seller's regular place of business.

b.  Buyer-initiated contacts for a bona-fide emergency need.

c.  Solicitations by mail or telephone.

d.  Buyer initiated visit for repairs of personal property.

e.  Sale (or rental) of:

(1)  Real Property.

(2)  Insurance.

(3)  Securities.

f.  Automobile tent sales (where dealer has permanent place of business elsewhere).

g.  Craft Fairs.

 D.  Requirements of the Rule.

1.  Copy of the fully completed contract for the consumer to retain.

2.  Notice of the rescission right - Requirements:

a.  One easily detachable, fully completed copy for consumer, one copy for consumer to send to seller to cancel the contract;

b.  Date of transaction, and;

c.  Name and address of seller;

d.  This is the permanent address for purpose of sending the notice of rescission.

e.  Seller must orally inform the consumer of the right to rescind;

f.  Notice of right to rescind must be in close proximity to the signature block of the consumer;

g.  Seller must not attempt to misrepresent right to rescind;

h.  Notice must be in bold print;

i.  Notice must be in the same language as that used during the sales presentation;

j.  Notice need not conform exactly to FTC recommended language.

3.  Waiver is not allowed.   (Exception - emergency needs).

4.  Sellers must honor rescission.

a.  Seller not permitted to sell or transfer credit note before midnight on the fifth business day following the transaction.

b.  If the consumer cancels the contract, the seller has 10 days within which to provide consumer with instructions regarding goods already delivered to the consumer.

E.  Mechanics of Rescission.

1.  Consumer must mail or deliver written notice to seller before midnight of the third business day following the transaction.

2.  Use cancellation form provided by the seller, or, use any written form, to include a telegram, that communicates the desire to rescind to the seller. 

3.  Seller must return trade-in, if any, within 10 days or receipt of consumer's notice.

4.  Consumer then must:

a.  Make goods already delivered available to the seller, or,

b.  Follow the seller's instructions regarding return of the goods.

5.  Return must be at the cost of the seller.

6.  Risk of loss during return is on the seller.

7.  If the seller fails to pick up the goods within 20 days, the consumer may retain the goods with no further obligation to the seller.

F.  FTC Application and Interpretation of the Rule.

1.  Strict interpretation against the seller.

2.  If buyer cancels the contract, but the seller has performed - there is no recovery for the seller based on quantum meruit.  Some states, however, do interpret their own rule to allow for quantum meruit recovery.

3.  FTC says there is an extended right to rescind if notice provisions are not complied with.  3 Days does not start to run until proper notice given.

a.  Not clearly present in FTC rule.

b.  BUT, FTC is the enforcement agency – use this to negotiate!

c.  State UDAP statutes may provide relief.

G.  Remedies.

1.  No independent cause of action for rule violation.

2.  Rule violation may be prima facie evidence of a state UDAP violation.

H.  Relationship with State Laws.

1.  Rule does not preempt state law, except when state law is directly in conflict with the rule.

2.  Examples:

a.  State law authorizing a cancellation fee would be preempted.

b.  State law with no requirement for providing notice preempted.

IV.  Federal Telemarketing Rule

SOB:  Summarize the protections available under the Federal Telemarketing Rule.

SOB:  Identify sales excluded from the Federal Telemarketing Rule.

SOB:  Explain two protections related to the Federal Telemarketing Rule
A.  References.

1.  16. C.F.R. Part 310.

2.  15 U.S.C. §§ 6101 - 08 (1996).

3.  National Consumer Law Center, Unfair and Deceptive Acts and Practices § 5.9 (4th Edition 1997 and Supplement 1998).

B.  Purpose.

1.  The Rule implements the Telemarketing & Consumer Fraud and Abuse Protection Act, which was enacted to “offer consumers necessary protection from telemarketing deception and abuse.”

2.  The Rule prohibits certain telemarketing practices and prescribes certain disclosures.

C.  Key Definitions:

1.  MATERIAL means likely to affect a person’s choice of, or conduct regarding, goods or services.

2.  CUSTOMER means any person who is or may be required to pay for goods or services offered through telemarketing.

3.  SELLER means any person who, in connection with a telemarketing transaction, provides, offers to provide, or arranges for others to provide goods or services to the customer in exchange for consideration.

4.  TELEMARKETER means any person who, in connection with telemarketing, initiates or receives telephone calls to or from the customer.

D.  Scope.

1.  Telemarketing under the Rule is:

a.  Any plan, program or campaign . . .

b.  which is conducted to induce the purchase of goods or services 

c.  by use of one or more telephones . . .

d.  AND which involves more than one interstate telephone call.

2.  Specifically excluded are:

a.  Catalog sales where

(1)  The catalog:

(a)  Contains written description or illustration of goods

(b)  Gives the business address of seller

(c)  Contains multiple pages of written material and illustrations; and

(d)  Is issued at least once per year.

(2).  AND the seller only RECEIVES calls initiated by consumer to take orders without further solicitation.

b.  Sale of pay-per-call services (already regulated under 16 C.F.R Part 308).

c.  Sale of franchises (already regulated under 16 C.F.R. Part 436).

d.  Calls where the sale is not complete until after a face-to-face presentation by the seller.

e.  Calls initiated by consumer:

(1)  Without any solicitation on the part of the seller; 

(2)  In response to an advertisement through any media, EXCEPT:

(a)  investment opportunities

(b)  Services to remove derogatory credit information

(c)  Services to assist in the return of money or value for previous telemarketing transactions

(d)  Ads that promise a high degree of success in obtaining or arranging extensions of credit.

(3)  In response to a direct mail solicitation that clearly, conspicuously, and truthfully discloses all material information required by the Rule.

f.  Calls between a telemarketer and any business (except for the sale of non-durable office or cleaning supplies).

E.  Prohibitions of the Rule.

1.  Deceptive Telemarketing Acts or Practices (16 C.F.R. § 310.3).

a.  Failure to disclose:

(1)  Total costs of transaction

(2)  All material restrictions, limitations, and conditions of transaction.

(3)  Any policy of not making refunds.

(4)  All material terms and conditions of any refund, cancellation, or repurchase policy that IS mentioned in the call.

(5)  In a prize promotion, the odds of receiving a prize and all material conditions or costs to receive or redeem the prize.

b.  Misrepresenting, directly or by implication:

(1)  Total costs of transaction

(2)  Any material restrictions, limitations, and conditions of transaction.

(3)  Any material aspect of the performance, efficacy, nature, or central characteristics of the goods or services.

(4)  Any material terms and conditions of any refund, cancellation, or repurchase policy

(5)  Any material aspect of a prize promotion.

(6)  Any material aspect of an investment opportunity.

(7)  Seller’s affiliation with any government or third party organization.

c.  Obtaining or submitting for payment a form of negotiable paper without the person’s express verifiable authorization.  Authorization is verifiable if it is:

(1)  Express and in writing.

(2)  Express and made orally and is tape recorded

(3)  Written confirmation of the transaction has been sent to the customer PRIOR TO submission for payment and the confirmation includes all disclosures required under the Rule.

d.  Making a false or misleading statement to induce any person to pay for goods or services.

2.  Abusive Telemarketing Acts or Practices.

a.  Threats, intimidation, profane, or obscene language.

b.  Requesting or receiving payment for goods and services to fix credit reports UNLESS:

(1)  The time frame in which the seller is supposed to have provided all goods and services has passed AND

(2)  The seller provides the person with documentation of success in the form of a credit report having been issued more than 6 months after the results were achieved.

c.  Requesting or receiving payment for goods and services represented to return money or other value from a previous telemarketing transaction until 7 business days after the money or other item is returned to the consumer.

d.  A PATTERN OF PHONE CALLS that is:

(1).  causing the phone to ring repeatedly and continuously with intent to annoy, abuse, or harass any person at the called number OR

(2).  Initiating a call with a person who has previously stated that he or she does not wish to receive calls made by or on behalf of the seller whose goods or services are being offered.  EXCEPT, seller or telemarketer  is not liable under this practice IF:

(a)  It has established and implemented WRITTEN procedures to comply with this rule;

(b)  It has trained its personnel on these procedures;

(c)  The seller or telemarketer has maintained a list of those who may not be called; AND

(d)  The subsequent call is a result of error.

e.  Calls made earlier than 8:00 a.m. or later than 9:00 p.m. at the called person’s location UNLESS the person consents to calls outside that time frame.

f.  Failure to make the following oral disclosures:

(1).  The identity of the seller;

(2).  That the purpose of the call is to sell goods and services;

(3).  The nature of the goods and services; AND

(4).  That no purchase or payment is necessary to be able to win a prize or participate in a prize promotion if a prize promotion is offered.

F.  Enforcement of the Rule.

1.  Violation of the Rule is an unfair and deceptive act or practice under the 15 U.S.C. § 57a.

2.  Any state officer can bring an action on behalf of consumers.

3.  Private causes of action ARE authorized.

4.  Prior to initiating an action (if feasible), notice is to be given to the FTC.

G.  Interrelationship with Other Protections.  As with all consumer cases, attorneys must look to all available protections to protect the consumer’s interests.  Here are two protections related to telemarketing that a consumer might be able to assert.

1.  Fair Credit Billing Act (FCBA)

a.  If the consumer purchases goods from a telemarketer using a credit card, consider the claims and defenses protections under the FCBA. (15 U.S.C. § 1666i)

b.  Basic Requirements 

(1)  Claims and defenses may include a dispute as to quality of merchandise and non-delivery of goods.

(2)  A consumer has right to assert against card issuer claims or defenses concerning property or services purchased with credit card, if:

(a)  The consumer has made a good faith effort to resolve the problem with the merchant honoring the card;

(b)  The amount of the initial transaction exceeds $50; 

(c)  The initial transaction was in the same state as the cardholder's designated address or within 100 miles of such address; and

(i)  Location of transaction is matter of state law; states differ on whether mail or telephone order occurred at consumer's home or seller's place of business. 

(ii)  In a telemarketing case, the consumer’s position is that the transaction took place in her home state because the telemarketer conducted the solicitation there.  You, as the attorney should anticipate an argument from the telemarketer.

(d)  The merchant is not controlled by or the same as the card issuer (e.g. Sears or J.C. Penney - store card).

2.  The FTC Mail or Telephone Order Merchandise Rule.  This rule requires delivery of goods ordered over the phone within 30 days.

V.  The Mail or Telephone Order Merchandise Rule

SOB:  Explain the mechanics and limitations of the Mail or Telephone Order merchandise Rule.

A.  Reference.  16 C.F.R. Part 435.

B.  Definitions. (16 C.F.R. § 435.2)

1.  "Mail or telephone order sales:" sales in which the buyer has ordered merchandise from the seller by mail or telephone, regardless of the method of payment or the method used to solicit the order.

a.  "Telephone:" refers to any direct or indirect use of the telephone to order merchandise, regardless of whether the telephone is activated by, or the language used is that of human beings, machines, or both.

2.  "Shipment:" the act by which the merchandise is physically placed in the possession of the carrier.

3.  "Receipt of a properly completed order:"

a.  Where the buyer tenders full or partial payment in the proper amount in the form of cash, check, money order, or authorization from the buyer to charge an existing charge account, THEN

b.  The time at which the seller receives both said payment and an order from the buyer containing all of the information needed by the seller to process and ship the order.

c.  However, if the seller receives notice that the check or money order tendered by the buyer has been dishonored or that the buyer does not qualify for a credit sale, "receipt of a properly completed order" means the time at which:

(1)  The seller receives notice that a check or money order for the proper amount tendered by the buyer has been honored,

(2)  The buyer tenders cash in the proper amount, OR

(3)  The seller receives notice that the buyer qualifies for a credit sale.

4.  "Refund:"

a.  RULE 1:  Applies where:

(1)  the buyer tendered full or partial payment in the form of cash, check or money order, AND

(2)  the merchandise has not been shipped.

(3)  Refund = a return of the amount tendered in the form of cash, check or money order.

b.  RULE 2.  Applies where

(1)  There is a credit sale, AND

(2)  The seller is a creditor.

(3)  Refund = a copy of a credit memorandum or the like or an account statement reflecting the removal or absence of any remaining charge incurred as a result of the sale from the buyer's account.

c.  RULE 3:  Applies where

(1)  There is a credit sale, AND

(2)  A third party is the creditor.

(3)  Refund = a copy of an appropriate credit memorandum or the like to the third party creditor which will remove the charge from the buyer's account OR a statement from the seller acknowledging the cancellation of the order and representing that it has not taken any action regarding the order which will result in a charge to the buyer's account with the third party.

d.  "Prompt refund" shall mean:

(1)  Cash, Check, or Money Order:  refund sent by first class mail within 7  working days of the date on which the buyer's right to refund vests.

(2)  Credit Sale:  a refund sent to the buyer by first class mail within one (1) billing cycle from the date on which the buyer's right to refund vests.

e.  The "time of solicitation" of an order shall mean that time when the seller has:

(1)  Mailed or otherwise disseminated the solicitation to a prospective purchaser,

(2)  Made arrangements for an advertisement containing the solicitation to appear in a newspaper, magazine or the like or on radio or television which cannot be changed or canceled without incurring substantial expense, or

(3)  Made arrangements for the printing of a catalog, brochure or the like which cannot be changed without incurring substantial expense, in which the solicitation in question forms an insubstantial part.

C.  Exclusions. (16 C.F.R. § 453.3).

1.  Subscriptions, such as magazine sales, ordered for serial delivery, after the initial shipment is made in compliance with this part.

2.  Orders of seeds and growing plants.

3.  Orders made on a collect‑on‑delivery (C.O.D.) basis.

4.  Transactions governed by the Federal Trade Commission's Trade Regulation Rule entitled "Use of Negative Option Plans by Sellers in Commerce," 16 C.F.R. part 425.

D.  Relationship to Other Laws/Rules

1.  FTC does not intend to preempt action in the same area, which is not inconsistent with this part, by any State, municipal, or other local government.

2.  The Rule does not annul or diminish any rights or remedies provided to consumers by any State law, municipal ordinance, or other local regulation, insofar as those rights or remedies are equal to or greater than those provided by this part.

3.  The Rule does not supersede those provisions of any State law, municipal ordinance, or other local regulation which impose obligations or liabilities upon sellers, when sellers subject to this part are not in compliance therewith.

4.  The Rule DOES supersede those provisions of any State law, municipal ordinance, or other local regulation which are inconsistent with this part to the extent that those provisions do not provide a buyer with rights which are equal to or greater than those rights granted a buyer by this part.

E.  Requirements of the Rule (16 C.F.R. § 435.1). 

1.  TIMELY SHIPMENT.  It is an unfair and deceptive act or practice for a seller to solicit any order for the sale of merchandise to be ordered by the buyer through the mails or by telephone unless, at the time of the solicitation, the seller has a reasonable basis to expect that it will be able to ship any ordered merchandise to the buyer:

a.  Within that time clearly and conspicuously stated in any such solicitation, OR

b.  if no time is clearly and conspicuously stated, within thirty (30) days after receipt of a properly completed order from the buyer.

2.  SYSTEMATIC RECORDS.  Failure of the merchant‑seller to have records or other documentary proof establishing its use of systems and procedures which assure the shipment of merchandise in the ordinary course of business within the time period required above will create a rebuttable presumption that the seller lacked a reasonable basis for any expectation of shipment within that time.

3.  OPTION TO CANCEL. Where a seller is unable to ship merchandise within the time set forth above, the seller must

a.  offer to the buyer, clearly and conspicuously and without prior demand, an option either

(1)  to consent to a delay in shipping  OR

(2)  to cancel the buyer's order and receive a prompt refund. 

b.  The offer must be made within a reasonable time after the seller first becomes aware of its inability to ship within the time limit, but in no case later than end of the time limit.

c.  Any offer to the buyer of such an option shall fully inform the buyer regarding the buyer's right to cancel the order and to obtain a prompt refund and shall provide either

(1)  a definite revised shipping date OR

(2)  notice that the seller is unable to make any representation regarding the length of the delay.

d.  If the revised shipping date is 30 days or less AFTER the applicable time limit expires, the buyer is deemed to have consented to the delay if:

(1)  Seller does not receive, prior to shipment and prior to the expiration of the definite revised shipping date, a response from the buyer rejecting the delay and canceling the order; and,

(2)  The merchandise arrives on or before the revised shipping date.

(3)  Note: The seller must expressly inform the buyer of this provision in its notice regarding the revised shipping date.

e.  If the definite revised shipping date is more than thirty (30) days AFTER the applicable time limit expires, the buyer is automatically deemed to have CANCELED UNLESS:

(1)  The seller ships the merchandise within thirty (30) days of the expiration of the applicable time limit (and has not received an affirmative cancellation before shipping); or,

(2)  The seller has received from the buyer within thirty (30) days of the applicable time limit a response specifically consenting to the shipping delay.

(3)  Note:  The seller must expressly inform the buyer of this provision in its notice regarding the revised shipping date.

f.  The seller may solicit buyer’s consent to further unanticipated delay.

4.  EXERCISING THE OPTION TO CANCEL:  the SELLER must:

a.  Furnish the buyer with adequate means to exercise the option/notify the seller regarding cancellation…

b.  …at the seller's expense.

5.  HONOR CANCELLATION.  The seller must deem an order canceled and make a prompt refund to the buyer whenever the seller receives, prior to the time of shipment, notification from the buyer canceling the order pursuant to any option described above.

VI.  New Car Sales – Statutory Warranties and "Lemon” Laws

SOB.  Distinguish between warranties applicable to new and used car sales.

A.  Effects of typical state "lemon" laws.

1.  Creates a new statutory warranty that modifies every manufacturer's warranty.

2.  Sets standards for consumers and manufacturers in determining when a buy-back must be awarded to the consumer.

3.  State lemon laws may be applied to automobiles purchased before the law went into effect if the warranty period has not expired at the time relief is sought.

4.  Note: A summary of each state’s lemon law can be found at http://autopedia.com/ html/HotLinks_Lemon.html (1 Aug 02)

B.  Common provisions.  Although there is a great deal of variety among the various "lemon" laws, there are many common provisions.

1.  Most lemon laws apply only to new cars, although some also apply to used cars, motorcycles, off road vehicles, and mobile homes. 

2.  Many statutes provide that the manufacturer must allow the consumer to return the car for a full refund or a replacement vehicle if:

a.  The consumer reports the defect within the allotted period.  The period varies from state to state.  It may be determined by the manufacturer’s warranty, the number of months the consumer has owned the car, or the number of miles the car has been driven.

b.  A substantial defect in a new automobile cannot be repaired in a reasonable number of attempts.

(1)  Often a presumption is used as a guideline for determining whether a reasonable number of repair attempts have been made.  3-4 attempts to correct the same or substantially the same defect is normally presumed to be “reasonable.”

(2)  Some statutes allow a presumption if the car is out of service for 30 or more days.  State statutes either use calendar days or business days to determine if this presumption applies.

3.  All state lemon laws contain an explicit "savings clause" that preserves consumers' rights under all other laws.  

a.  The good faith of the dealer in attempting to repair the vehicle does not defeat the consumer's right to relief under a lemon law if the malfunction goes uncorrected. 

b.  Under most lemon laws, the repair attempts must be made even after the manufacturer's warranty expires, as long as the defect was first reported within the warranty period.

c.  Generally are limited to defects covered by the manufacturer's written warranty, so the malfunction must be shown to have resulted from a defect in material or workmanship.

d.  Manufacturers are seldom held liable for defects caused by the owner's negligence, improper repair attempts, or unauthorized modifications.

e.  Under all lemon laws, the consumer must give notice of the defect, but the notice provisions vary greatly.

(1)  Most allow notice to the manufacturer, its agent, or an authorized dealer.

(2)  However, it is wise to give notice to the manufacturer by certified mail.

f.  No lemon law requires that after the consumer notifies the dealer or manufacturer of the substantial defect the consumer discontinue use of the vehicle while awaiting the dealer's repair attempts.

g.  Most lemon laws permit the dealer an affirmative defense if:

(1)  The defect or nonconformity does not substantially impair the value, use, or safety of the vehicle.

(2)  The consumer’s abuse, neglect, or unauthorized modifications or alterations cause the defect.

h.  Offsets.  Almost all state laws provide that the consumer will pay the dealer an offset:  this is usually a reasonable allowance for use of the vehicle.

C.  Remedies available under lemon laws.

1.  Most lemon laws require consumers first to resort to an informal dispute settlement mechanism (IDSM) designated by the manufacturer—if the IDSM complies with FTC guidelines contained in 16 C.F.R. Part 703—before being eligible to receive a full refund or a replacement vehicle.  The lemon laws of some states require that the consumer use the manufacturer's IDSM only if the IDSM complies with the FTC guidelines "completely," while others require that the consumer comply with the IDSM if it complies with the FTC guidelines "substantially." 

2.  The basic remedy of refund of the purchase price includes, in most states, all taxes, preparation fees, and other charges or fees paid by the consumer.

3.  Most states also require deduction of the reasonable value of the consumer's use of the automobile up to the first time the car was submitted for correction of the defect.

4.  Attorneys' fees and court costs may be made available for consumers who successfully sue to obtain lemon law remedies.

5.  Some lemon laws include prohibitions against waiver of lemon law protection and resale of a returned lemon unless full disclosure of the car's history is made to the buyer.

6.  Under a few statutes, manufacturers who are sued in bad faith or without substantial justification are entitled to recover legal expenses from the consumer.

VII.  New Car Sales – Latent Defects (Discovered after “Lemon” Law Period Expires)

SOB.  Distinguish between warranties applicable to new and used car sales.
A.  Defects discovered during the manufacturer’s express warranty period. (See warranty law, supra):

1.  Use the Magnuson-Moss Act to bring a suit for damages for breach of the warranty.

2.  Revoke acceptance under the UCC.

B.  Defects discovered after expiration of the manufacturer’s express warranty.

1.  Secret Warranties: A strategy whereby a manufacturer pays for repair of defects after expiration of the express warranty period, but only for those consumers who are aggressive about complaining.  These warranties are called "secret warranties" or sometimes "warranty adjustment policies" because they are communicated only to the manufacturer’s agents and dealers, but not to the consumers.

a.  These warranties often cover widespread problems that are known only to the manufacturer from scattered reports submitted by its dealers.  Sometimes manufacturers issue technical service bulletins (TSPs) explaining the problem and how it may be repaired.  Sometimes the TSP will limit when the repair is free, such as only for a predetermined period of time and/or mileage on the vehicle. 

b.  These are tough to find and document.  The only strategy is to complain vociferously.  A consumer may be able to get assistance by contacting the manufacturer’s regional office after exhausting repair attempts at the dealer.

c.  An important resource here is The Center for Auto Safety, 2001 S Street, NW, suite 410, Washington, DC  20009, (202) 328-7700.  They have information on secret warranty programs for specific model cars.

2.  UDAP Violations.  Don’t forget your state statute.  Failure to disclose a latent defect when the manufacturer knows about it should almost certainly be a UDAP violation.
VIII.  Used Car Sales – Dealer Sales

SOB.  Distinguish between warranties applicable to new and used car sales.
A.  The FTC Used Car Rule.  The chief problem in used car sales is that salespersons make oral statements that contradict the written sales agreement and are not legally binding.  This led to the adoption of “The Used Motor Vehicle Trade Regulation Rule,” a.k.a. “The FTC Used Car Rule,” 16 CFR Part 455, promulgated under the authority of the Federal Trade Commission Act (FTCA), 15 U.S.C. § 41 et seq, and the Magnuson Moss Warranty Act, 15 U.S.C. § 2309(b).  The Rule became effective on 9 May 1985 and applies in all states except Maine and Wisconsin ( These states are exempt because they have similar regulations that afford an overall level of protection to consumers which are as great as, or greater than, the protection afforded by the FTC Used Car Rule.  16 CFR Section 455.6.)  The Rule applies in the District of Columbia, Puerto Rico, Guam, the U.S. Virgin Islands, and American Samoa (see,http://www.ftc.gov/bcp/conline/pubs/buspubs/usedcarc.htm).

1.  Buyers Guide.  The FTC Used Car Rule requires dealers (anyone who sells 6 or more cars a year) to post a Buyers Guide in every used car they offer for sale.  Buyers Guides do not have to be posted on motorcycles and most recreational vehicles.  The Used Car Rule is primarily intended to prevent and to discourage oral misrepresentations and unfair omissions of material facts by used car dealers concerning warranty coverage. The Rule provides a uniform method for written disclosure of warranty information on a window sticker called the "Buyers Guide."

2.  The Buyers Guide must disclose to the consumer:

a.
Whether the vehicle is being sold "as is" or with a warranty.  The Buyers Guide becomes part of the sales contract and overrides any contrary provisions.  For example, if the Guide says the car comes with a warranty and the contract says the car is sold "as is," the dealer must honor the warranty described in the Guide.  When the dealer offers to sell a used car "as is," the box next to the "As Is - No Warranty" disclosure on the Buyers Guide must be checked.  Some states, including Connecticut, Kansas, Maine, Maryland, Massachusetts, Minnesota, Mississippi, New Jersey, New York, Rhode Island, Vermont, West Virginia and the District of Columbia, don't allow "as is" sales for many used vehicles.  Three states - Louisiana, New Hampshire, and Washington - require different disclosures than those on the Buyers Guide. If the dealer fails to provide proper state disclosures, the sale is not "as is." To find out what disclosures are required for "as is" sales in your state, contact your state Attorney General.  See, http://www.ftc.gov/bcp/conline/pubs/ autos/usedcar.htm.

b.
What percentage of the repair costs a dealer will pay under the warranty;

c.
That spoken promises are difficult to enforce;

d.
To get all promises in writing;

e.
To keep the Buyers Guide for reference after the sale;

f.
The major mechanical and electrical systems on the car, including some of the major problems the consumer should look out for; and

g.
To ask to have the car inspected by an independent mechanic before the purchase.

h.
Note:  see, http://www.ftc.gov/bcp/conline/pubs/autos/usedcar.htm; and, 16 CFR Section 455.2 (sample Buyer’s Guide)

3.  Failure to post, or comply with, the Buyer’s Guide rules is a violation of the FTCA and subjects the dealer to civil penalties of up to $10,000 per violation.  See, 15 U.S.C. § 45(m).

4.  It is a deceptive act or practice for any used car dealer: (1) To misrepresent the mechanical condition of a used vehicle; (2) To misrepresent the terms of any warranty offered in connection with the sale of a used vehicle; or (3) To represent that a used vehicle is sold with a warranty when the vehicle is sold without any warranty.  16 C.F.R. Part 455.1(a).  Further, it is an unfair act or practice for any used car dealer: (1) To fail to disclose, prior to sale, that a used vehicle is sold without any warranty; or, (2) To fail to make available, prior to sale, the terms of any written warranty offered in connection with the sale of a used vehicle.  16 C.F.R. Part 455.1(b).  A dealer who engages in an unfair or deceptive act or practice violates the FTCA and is subject to civil penalties of up to $10,000 per violation.  See, 15 U.S.C. § 45(m).

B.  Un-expired Manufacturer’s Warranties

If a used vehicle is still covered under the terms of the original manufacturer's warranty, the dealer may include language such as, "Manufacturer's Warranty Still Applies."  Written warranties apply to subsequent purchasers unless the manufacturer expressly limits its warranty to first purchasers.  If the manufacturer's warranty still is in effect, the dealer may include it in the "systems covered/duration" section of the Buyers Guide.  See, http://www.ftc.gov/bcp/conline/pubs/autos/usedcar.htm.

C.  Implied Warranties

1.  State laws hold dealers accountable if cars they sell don't meet reasonable quality standards.  These obligations are called implied warranties - unspoken, unwritten promises from the seller to the buyer; however, in most jurisdictions, dealers can use the words "as is" or "with all faults" in a written notice to buyers to eliminate implied warranties.  See, http://www.ftc.gov/bcp/conline/pubs/autos/usedcar.htm.

2.  Disclaimer limitations.  If the dealer does not expressly disclaim all warranties in writing, the buyer retains an implied warranty of merchantability (the product will do what it is supposed to do), fitness for a particular purpose (dealer's advice that the car will be suitable for a particular use, such as hauling a trailer), and good title.  These cannot be disclaimed if the dealer gives a written warranty or “enters into” a service contract.

D.  Non-Warranty Claims

1.  Uniform Commercial Code.

2.  Traditional Legal Theories:  Fraud, Tort Liability (Negligence, strict liability)

IX.  Used Car Sales – Private Sales

Private sellers (persons who sell fewer than 6 cars per year) are not governed by the FTC Used Car Rule.  No Buyer’s Guide is required to be posted.  Private sales are usually not subject to "implied warranties" of state law.  This means used cars sold at a private sale are usually sold “as is” unless a purchase agreement specifically states otherwise.

X.  Used Car Sales – “Lemon” Laws

A.  Some states have passed used car lemon laws.  These states are currently:

1.  New York (N.Y. Gen. Bus. Law § 198-b)

2.  Rhode Island (R.I. Gen. Laws § 31-5.4)

3.  Massachusetts (Mass. Ann. Laws Ch. 90 § 7N ¼)

4.  Minnesota (Minn. Stat. Ann. § 325F.662)

5.  Connecticut (Conn. Gen. Stat. §§ 42-220 - 42-226a)

6.  New Jersey (N.J. Rev. Stat. Ann. § 56:8-67 to 80 (West Supp. 1996).

B.  Most state lemon laws, although designed primarily to protect new car owners, also cover subsequent purchasers of warranted vehicles during the warranty period.

C.  Most used car lemon laws only apply to “dealers.”

1.  A dealer is usually defined as one who has sold or offered to sell at least three vehicles in the prior twelve months.

2.  This will usually include even unlicensed “backyard” dealers.

D.  Basic Protections

1.  States that have a lemon law mandate certain warranty protections and specify the duration of the protection.

2.  The duration is normally tied to the number of miles on the car at purchase.

3.  Remedies.  If the warranty is breached during the period the statutes provide that:

a.  If the dealer is notified of the defect, AND

b.  fails to remedy the problem in a reasonable number of attempts; AND

c.  the defect substantially impairs the value of the car;

d.  The dealer will accept return of the car and, at the consumer’s option,

(i)  replace it with a comparably priced vehicle OR

(ii) Refund the purchase price less certain adjustment.

XI.  Title Washing (a.k.a. “Lemon Laundering”)

A.  Defined:  “the practice of manufacturers reselling cars returned as lemons, . . .”  National Consumer Law Center, Consumer Warranty Law, § 14.3.3.1.  When a manufacturer repurchases a defective car, it can later be resold.  When it is resold, the consumer is sometimes not notified that the car was a “lemon.”  Manufacturers have been known to ship a defective car to a different state that does not require “title stamping,” effectively erasing the car’s poor mechanical history.  This practice is known as “title washing” or “lemon laundering.”

B.  Most states have statutes governing this practice.  

1.  Statutes require disclosure of the prior history on the title or other sale documents.  

2.  Some states mandate a warranty.

C.  Salvage Vehicles – Similar to Lemon Laundering.  Most states have statutory protections that require disclosure of the car’s history.

XII.  New and Used Car Sales – Inaccurate Odometer Readings

In 1972 Congress passed the Motor Vehicle Information and Cost Savings Act, popularly known as the “Federal Odometer Act,” which may be found at 49 U.S.C. §§ 32701-32711 and codified at 49 C.F.R. Part 580, et seq.  Buyers of motor vehicles rely heavily on the odometer reading as an index of the condition and value of a vehicle.  An accurate indication of the mileage assists a buyer in deciding on the safety and reliability of the vehicle.   

A.  The Federal Odometer Act.  Definitions.  See, 49 U.S.C. § 32702.

1.  “Dealer" means a person that sold at least 5 motor vehicles during the prior 12 months to buyers that in good faith bought the vehicles other than for resale.

2.  "Leased motor vehicle" means a motor vehicle leased to a person for at least 4 months by a lessor that leased at least 5 vehicles during the prior 12 months.

3.  "Odometer" means an instrument for measuring and recording the distance a motor vehicle is driven, but does not include an auxiliary instrument designed to be reset by the operator of the vehicle to record mileage of a trip.

4.  "Transfer" means to change ownership by sale, gift, or any other means.

B.  Primary Protections of the Federal Odometer Act

1.  Prohibition on Odometer Tampering.  49 U.S.C. § 32703.  A person may not‑‑

a.  Advertise for sale, sell, use, install, or have installed, a device that makes an odometer of a motor vehicle register a mileage different from the mileage the vehicle was driven, as registered by the odometer;

b.  Disconnect, reset, alter, or have disconnected, reset, or altered, an odometer of a motor vehicle intending to change the mileage registered by the odometer;

c.  With intent to defraud, operate a motor vehicle on a street, road, or highway if the person knows that the odometer of the vehicle is disconnected or not operating;  or

d.  Conspire to violate this section.

2.  Disclosure Requirements  49 C.F.R. Part 580.5.

a.  Each title, at the time it is issued to the transferee, must contain the mileage disclosed by the transferor when ownership of the vehicle was transferred and contain a space to provide odometer disclosures at the time of future transfer.

b.  Any documents that are used to reassign a title shall contain a space for the required odometer disclosures at the time of transfer of ownership.

c.  Written Disclosure

(1)  Made on the title or on the document used to transfer ownership.  In addition, the written disclosure must contain the following information:

(a)  The odometer reading at the time of transfer;

(b)  The date of transfer;

(c)  The transferor's name and current address;

(d)  The transferee's name and current address; and,

(e)  The identity of the vehicle, including its make, model, year, and body type, and its vehicle identification number.

(2)  The statement shall refer to the Federal law and shall state that failure to complete or providing false information may result in fines and/or imprisonment. 

(3)  Certification by the owner that either,

(a)  To the best of his/her knowledge the odometer reading reflects the actual mileage;

(b)  If (s)he knows that the odometer reading reflects the amount of mileage in excess of the designed mechanical odometer limit, (s)he shall include a statement to that effect; or,

(c)  If the transferor knows that the odometer reading differs from the mileage and that the difference is greater than that caused by odometer calibration error, (s)he shall include a statement that the odometer reading does not reflect the actual mileage.  This statement shall also include a warning notice to alert the transferee re the actual mileage.

(4)  If the vehicle has not been titled, or if the title does not contain a space for the information required, the written disclosure shall be executed as a separate document.

3.  Other Requirements.  If the odometer must be repaired, serviced, or replaced, the mileage must be set the same as before the service or set to zero and a notice attached to the frame reflecting the prior mileage.  49 U.S.C. § 32704.

C.  Penalties and enforcement.  See, 49 U.S.C. § 32709.

1.  Civil penalty.  Violators are liable to the USG for a civil penalty of not more than $2,000 for each violation.  A separate violation occurs for each motor vehicle or device involved in the violation.  Max penalty under this subsection for a series of violations is $100,000.  

2.  Criminal penalty.  A person that knowingly and willfully violates this chapter or a regulation prescribed or order issued under this chapter shall be fined under title 18, imprisoned for not more than 3 years, or both.

3.  Civil actions by Attorney General.  The AG may bring a civil action to enjoin a violation of this chapter or a regulation prescribed or order issued under this chapter.

4.  Civil actions by States.  The chief law enforcement officer of the State in which the violation occurs may bring a civil action‑‑

a.  To enjoin the violation; or,

b.  To recover amounts for which the person is liable under section 32710 of this title for each person on whose behalf the action is brought.

D.  Civil actions by private persons.  See, 49 U.S.C. § 32710.

1.  A violation done with the intent to defraud results in liability for 3 times the actual damages or $1,500, whichever is greater.  The court shall award costs and a reasonable attorney's fee to the person when a judgment is entered for that person.

2.  Statute of Limitations.  The action must be brought not later than 2 years after the claim accrues.  The claim “accrues” when the particular plaintiff (and not prior purchasers) has reason to know of the violation.

XIII.  Consumer Credit Transactions

In 1968, Congress enacted the Consumer Credit Protection Act (CCPA), 15 U.S.C. § 1601 et seq, sometimes referred to as the “Consumer Protection Act,” (CPA) which regulates the consumer credit industry.  Violations of the CCPA are frequently enforced as civil penalty actions under the Federal Trade Commission Act, 15 U.S.C. § 41 et seq (see, 15 U.S.C. § 1607(c)).  The Department of Justice, Office of Consumer Litigation, enforces violations on behalf of the FTC.  Knowing or willful violations of the CCPA are misdemeanors, as provided in 15 U.S.C. § 1611.  In addition, each of the Acts under the CCPA permits private suits by consumers.  

A.  The Truth in Lending Act (TIL or TILA).

1.  Purpose.  Congress enacted the Truth in Lending Act in 1968 as Title I, Chapters 1-3, of the Consumer Credit Protection Act.  The law is designed to protect consumers in credit transactions by requiring clear and specific disclosure of key terms of any consumer loan.  This allows consumers to more meaningfully compare loan products and avoid uninformed use of credit.  See, generally, 15 U.S.C. § 1601(a) [Congressional findings and declaration of purpose].

2.  Authority.  15 U.S.C. § 1601, et seq.  The Federal Reserve Board has implemented the TILA through Regulation Z at 12 C.F.R. Part 226.

3.  Application.  The TILA applies whenever (1) credit, (2) is offered to consumers, (3) on a regular basis, (4) subject to a finance charge (i.e. interest) or subject to being repaid in more than four installments according to a written agreement, (5) and the credit is offered primarily for a personal, family or household purpose.  Note:  in the case of credit cards, certain provisions apply even if the credit is not subject to a finance charge or is not payable by agreement in more than four installments.  See, generally, 15 U.S.C. § 1602.

a.  The TILA does not apply to credit transactions in which the total amount financed exceeds $25,000, unless the extension of credit is secured by either an interest in real property or an interest in personal property, used or expected to be used as the principal dwelling of the consumer.  15 U.S.C. § 1603(3).

b.  The TILA does not apply to student loans made, insured, or guaranteed pursuant to Title IV of the Higher Education Act of 1965.  15 U.S.C. § 1603(7).

c.  The TILA does not apply if credit is extended for a business, commercial or agricultural purpose.  15 U.S.C. § 1603(1).

4.  Required Disclosures.  Under Regulation Z, disclosure must be made of the following material credit terms: (1) the amount financed, (2) the finance charge, (3) the annual percentage rate, (4) the total of all payments the debtor is to make to the creditor, and (5) the total sales price, i.e. the total cost of the purchase, including the down payment and total of all payments.

a.  In the case of an “open-end” credit transaction—when the amount of the credit is not fixed, such as a revolving credit card account or charge card account—the Truth in Lending Act requires disclosure before the credit is actually used, and again at the time the periodic billing statement is sent.  15 U.S.C. §§ 1602(i), 1637, 1637a

b.  In the case of “closed-end” credit—when the credit is a fixed amount—the disclosure must be made before the consumer enters into the contract.  15 U.S.C. § 1638

5.  3-Business Day Right of Rescission.  In the case of a consumer credit transaction secured by an interest in the consumer's principal dwelling (e.g., a home improvement loan secured by a mechanic's or material man's lien), the consumer has the right to rescind the transaction until midnight of the third business day after (1) consummation of the contract, (2) the creditor's delivery of the required notice of the right to rescind, or (3) the creditor's required disclosure of all material credit terms, whichever occurs last.  See, 15 U.S.C. § 1635(a).

a.  Major exceptions to the rescission provisions include loans to finance the construction or purchase of a principal residence, and refinancing of the same property by the same creditor with no new advance of funds.  15 U.S.C. § 1635(e)

b.  Business days include Saturdays, but not Sundays or legal public holidays.  For example, if the events listed above take place on a Friday, the consumer has until midnight on the next Tuesday to rescind.  See, 12 C.F.R. Part 226.2(a)(6).

c.  If the notice of required disclosures is not delivered, the right to rescind generally expires three years after consummation.  15 U.S.C. § 1635(f) 

6.  Penalties.  Creditors who violate the TILA are subject to specific penalties unless the creditor shows the error was unintentional (see, generally, 15 U.S.C. § 1640(c)):

a.  Actual damages.  15 U.S.C. § 1640(a)(1).

b.  A creditor may be sued for twice the amount of the finance charge in connection with the disputed matter; but, the consumer cannot recover less than $100 or more than $1,000 for individual actions.  For class-action suits, the amount may be higher.  15 U.S.C. § 1640(a)(2).

c.  Costs and attorney's fees.  15 U.S.C. § 1640(a)(B)(3).

d.  A lawsuit must be begun by the consumer within 1 year of the violation. However, violations of the TILA can be asserted as a defense if a creditor sues the consumer more than a year after the date of the violation.  15 U.S.C. § 1640(e).
B.  The Fair Credit Billing Act (FCBA).

1.  Purpose.  Congress enacted the Fair Credit Billing Act (FCBA), in 1975, as Title I, Chapter 4, of the Consumer Credit Protection Act.  The FCBA provides a procedure for disputing billing errors and asserting claims against credit and charge card issuers for unsatisfactory products purchased from merchants.
2.  Authority.  15 U.S.C. §§ 1601 et. seq.  15 U.S.C. § 1666, et seq.  The Federal Reserve Board has implemented the FCBA through Regulation Z at 12 C.F.R. Part 226.13.

3.  Application.  The FCBA applies to all "open-end" credit transactions, such as credit cards, revolving charge accounts, and overdraft checking accounts.  It applies to transactions where a credit card number is used, but not the card itself.  The FCBA does not apply to installment contracts - loans or extensions of credit repaid on a fixed schedule (such as a home or car loan).  It applies to disputes about (15 U.S.C. § 1666(b); and, 12 C.F.R. Sec. 226.13):

a.  Merchandise the consumer refused to accept, returned, or never received.

b.  Multiple charges for the same transaction.

c.
Payments the consumer made that were not credited to the account.

d.  Unauthorized charges.  The FCBA directs that a consumer cannot be held responsible if (s)he reports a lost credit card before the credit card is used.  The FCBA limits the consumer’s legal responsibility for unauthorized charges to $50.00 if the consumer reports the loss after the card has been used.

e.  Charges that list the wrong date or amount.

f.  Errors in computing a charge or bill.

g.  Failure to send bills to the consumer’s current address.

4.  Procedure for disputing billing errors:  the consumer must notify the creditor by writing to the address the creditor provides for “billing inquiries” (not the payment address).  The consumer’s letter must reach the creditor within 60 days after the first bill containing the error had been mailed to the consumer.  The letter must include enough information to identify the customer and explain the error.  After giving notice, the consumer may withhold payment of the disputed amount.  Upon receiving notice, the creditor must conduct an investigation.  See, generally, 15 U.S.C. § 1666(a).

a.  The creditor must acknowledge the complaint in writing within 30 days after receiving it, unless the problem has been resolved.  The creditor must resolve the dispute within two billing cycles—but in no event later than 90 days after receipt of the consumer’s letter.  15 U.S.C. § 1666(a)(3)(A) and (B).

b.  While the dispute is being investigated, the creditor may not take any legal action to collect the disputed amount and any related charges, and the consumer’s account may not be closed or restricted.  15 U.S.C. § 1666(d).  The creditor may not report the consumer as delinquent to a credit reporting agency.  15 U.S.C. § 1666a.

c.  If the creditor finds the matter to be accurate, it must tell the consumer in writing how much the consumer owes and why.  Thereafter, within 10 days the consumer is obligated to pay the disputed amount and any finance charges that accumulated while the matter was being disputed.  After 10 days, the creditor may begin collection procedures.  15 U.S.C. §§ 1666(a), 1666a(a).

d.  If after the FCBA dispute settlement procedure has ended, the consumer still believes the matter is in error, the consumer has 10 days after receiving the creditor’s explanation to write the creditor and preserve the right to have the creditor report to the credit agency the fact that the matter is in dispute at the same time the creditor reports that the consumer is delinquent.  Additionally, the consumer must be told to whom the creditor is reporting information concerning the delinquency.  15 U.S.C. § 1666a(b).

5.  Procedure for disputing unsatisfactory goods or services:  A credit/charge card issuer is subject to all claims (other than tort claims) and defenses arising out of any transaction in which a credit/charge card is used as a method of payment or extension of credit if (1) the consumer has made a good faith attempt to obtain satisfactory resolution of the disagreement or problem from the merchant; (2) the amount of the initial transaction exceeds $50; and (3) the place where the initial transaction occurred was in the same State as the mailing address previously provided by the consumer or was within 100 miles from the consumer’s address.  There are certain exceptions to this protection:  the dollar and distance limitations don't apply if the seller is also the card issuer or if a special business relationship exists between the seller and card issuer.  See, generally, 15 USC §§ 1602(k), 1666i(a).

6.  Penalties.  Any creditor who fails to follow the settlement procedure of 10 U.S.C. §1666 or 1666a, forfeits the right to collect the amount in dispute and any related finance charges, except the total amount to be forfeited cannot exceed $50.00, even if the bill turns out to be correct.  15 U.S.C. § 1666(e).  As is the case with violations of the TILA, creditor who violate the FCBA are subject to specific penalties unless the creditor shows the error was unintentional (see, generally, 15 U.S.C. § 1640(c)):

a.  Actual damages.  15 U.S.C. § 1640(a)(1).

b.  A creditor may be sued for twice the amount of the finance charge in connection with the disputed matter; but, the consumer cannot recover less than $100 or more than $1,000 for individual actions.  For class-action suits, the amount may be higher.  15 U.S.C. § 1640(a)(2).

c.  Costs and attorney's fees.  15 U.S.C. § 1640(a)(B)(3).

d.  A lawsuit must be begun by the consumer within 1 year of the violation. However, violations of the TILA can be asserted as a defense if a creditor sues the consumer more than a year after the date of the violation.  15 U.S.C. § 1640(e). 
C.
The Electronic Fund Transfer Act (EFTA)

1.  Purpose.  Congress enacted the Electronic Fund Transfer Act in 1980, as Title IX of the Consumer Credit Protection Act.  The EFTA is enforced by the Federal Reserve Board, and is designed to provide a basic framework establishing the rights, liabilities, and responsibilities of participants in electronic fund transfer systems.  The primary objective of the EFTA is the provision of individual consumer rights.  15 U.S.C. § 1693(b) [Congressional findings and declaration of purpose].

2.  Authority.  15 U.S.C. § 1693 et. seq.  The Federal Reserve Board has implemented the EFTA through Regulation E at 12 C.F.R. Part 205.

3.  Application.  The EFTA applies to any electronic fund transfer, including transfers made by ATM, debit card, or any electronic transfer (e.g. wire transfer).

4.  Liability limits for an unauthorized EFT.  15 U.S.C. §1693(g).  A consumer’s liability for an unauthorized transfer depends on how quickly the consumer reports the loss.  Generally, the consumer’s liability for an unauthorized EFT cannot exceed the lesser of:

a.  $50; or 

b.  The amount of money or value of property or services obtained by the unauthorized EFT prior to the time the financial institution is notified of, or otherwise becomes aware of, circumstances that lead to the reasonable belief that an unauthorized EFT involving the consumer's account has occurred, or may occur.

c.  Exception.  Reimbursement need not be made to the consumer for losses the financial institution establishes would not have occurred but for the failure of the consumer to report within 60 days of transmittal of the periodic statement (or in extenuating circumstances such as extended travel or hospitalization, within a reasonable time under the circumstances) any unauthorized EFT or account error which appears on the periodic statement provided to the consumer.  In addition, reimbursement need not be made to the consumer for losses that the financial institution establishes would not have occurred but for the failure of the consumer to report any loss or theft of a card or other means of access within 2 business days after the consumer learns of the loss or theft (or in extenuating circumstances such as extended travel or hospitalization, within a longer period which is reasonable under the circumstances).  Under any or either of these exceptions, the consumer's liability may not exceed a total of $500, or the amount of unauthorized electronic fund transfers which occur following the close of two business days (or such longer period) after the consumer learns of the loss or theft but prior to notice to the financial institution under this subsection, whichever is less. 

5.  Penalties.  See, generally, 15 U.S.C. §§ 1693h, and 1693m.  For criminal liability, see, 15 U.S.C. § 1693n.
D.  The Fair Credit Reporting Act (FCRA)

1.  Purpose.  Congress enacted the Fair Credit Reporting Act (FCRA), in 1970, as Title VI of the Consumer Credit Protection Act.  The FCRA is enforced by the Federal Trade Commission, and is designed to promote accuracy, fairness, and impartiality, and ensure the privacy of the information used in consumer reports prepared by and maintained by a credit reporting agency (CRA).  15 U.S.C. § 1681 [statement of Congressional intent].

2.  Authority.  15 U.S.C. § 1681 et seq.  16 CFR Part 600.

3.  Procedure for disputing CRA information.  When a consumer informs the CRA in writing that information contained in a credit report is believed to be inaccurate, the CRA must reinvestigate the matter—usually within 30 days unless the CRA considers the dispute frivolous.  15 U.S.C. §§ 1681i(a)(1)(A), 1681i(a)(3).  The CRA must also forward all relevant information the consumer provided about the dispute to the information provider.  15 U.S.C. § 1681i(a)(2)(A).  After the information provider receives notice of a dispute from the CRA, it must investigate, review all relevant information provided by the CRA, and report the results to the CRA.  If the information provider finds the disputed information to be inaccurate, it must notify all nationwide CRAs so that they can correct the information maintained in the consumer’s file.

a.  When the reinvestigation is complete, the CRA must give the consumer the written results (within 5 business days) and a free copy of the consumer’s credit report if the dispute results in a change.  15 U.S.C. § 1681i(a)(6).

b.  If, after any reinvestigation, an the information is found to be inaccurate or incomplete or cannot be verified, the CRA shall promptly delete that item of information from the consumer's file or modify that item of information, as appropriate, based on the results of the reinvestigation.  15 U.S.C. § 1681i(a)(5)(A).
c.  If data is changed or removed, the CRA cannot put the disputed information back in the consumer’s file unless the information provider verifies its accuracy and completeness, and the CRA gives the consumer a written notice that includes the name, address, and phone number of the provider.  15 U.S.C. § 1681i(a)(6).  

d.  If the reinvestigation does not resolve the dispute, the consumer may file a brief statement setting forth the nature of the dispute.  The CRA may limit such statements to not more than 100 words if it provides the consumer with assistance in writing a clear summary of the dispute.  15 U.S.C. § 1681i(b).
4.  Negative information in a CRA lasts 7 years, subject to the following exceptions: (1) Criminal convictions can be reported without any time limitation; (2) Bankruptcy information may be reported for 10 years; (3) Information reported in response to an application for a job with a salary of more than $75,000 has no time limit; (4) Information reported because of an application for more than $150,000 worth of credit or life insurance has no time limit; and, (5) Information about a lawsuit or an unpaid judgment can be reported for 7 years or until the statute of limitations runs out, whichever is longer.  See, 15 U.S.C. § 1681(c).

5.  Free Credit Report.   A consumer denied credit due to adverse information in a credit report, must be provided the name, address, and telephone number of the CRA that provided the adverse information to the merchant.  15 U.S.C. 1681m(a).  The consumer is entitled to a free copy of his/her credit report if a request is made within 60 days of receiving a denial notice.  In addition, a consumer is entitled to a free copy if the consumer (1) is unemployed and intends to look for a job within 60 days, (2) is on welfare, or (3) believes his/her credit report is inaccurate because of fraud.  See, 15 U.S.C. § 1681j.

6.  Penalties.  For most violations of the FCRA, a consumer may sue a CRA, a provider of CRA information, or any person who used CRA information.  Damages and the amount of recovery depends on whether the violation was willful, 15 U.S.C. § 1681n, or negligent, 15 U.S.C. § 1681o.  The statute of limitations is two years from the date when the liability arises, except in cases of material and willful misrepresentations, in which case the action may be brought at any time within two years after discovery by the individual of the misrepresentation.  15 U.S.C. § 1681p.
E.  Equal Credit Opportunity Act (ECOA)

1.  Purpose.  Congress enacted the Equal Credit Opportunity Act (ECOA), in 1975, as Title VII of the Consumer Credit Protection Act.  The Act, enforced by the Federal Reserve Board, prohibits creditors from discriminating against credit applicants, establishes guidelines for gathering and evaluating credit information, and requires written notification when credit is denied.  15 U.S.C. § 1691 [statement of Congressional intent].

2.  Authority.  15 U.S.C. § 1691, et seq.  The Federal Reserve Board has implemented the ECOA through Regulation B at 12 C.F.R. Part 202.
3.  Prohibitions.

a.  15 U.S.C. § 1691(a) makes it unlawful for any creditor to discriminate against any applicant, with respect to any aspect of a credit transaction (1) on the basis of race, color, religion, national origin, sex or marital status, or age (provided the applicant has the capacity to contract); (2) because all or part of the applicant’s income derives from any public assistance program; or (3) because the applicant has in good faith exercised any right under the ECOA.   Activities not constituting discrimination are set forth at 15 U.S.C. § 1691(b) and (c):

(1)  To make an inquiry of marital status if such inquiry is for the purpose of ascertaining the creditor’s rights and remedies applicable to the particular extension of credit and not to discriminate in a determination of credit-worthiness;

(2)  To make an inquiry of the applicant’s age or whether the applicant’s income derives from any public assistance program if such inquiry is for the purpose of determining the amount and probable continuance of income levels, credit history, or other pertinent element of credit-worthiness as provided in Regulation B;

(3)  To use any empirically derived credit system which considers age if such system is demonstrably and statistically sound in accordance with Regulation B, except that in the operation of such system the age of an elderly applicant may not be assigned a negative factor or value; or

(4)  To make an inquiry or to consider the age of an elderly applicant when the age of such applicant is to be used by the creditor in the extension of credit in favor of such applicant.

(5)  To refuse to extend credit offered pursuant to (a) any credit assistance program expressly authorized by law for an economically disadvantaged class of persons; (b) any credit assistance program administered by a nonprofit organization for its members or an economically disadvantaged class of persons; or (c) any special purpose credit program offered by a profit-making organization to meet special social needs which meets standards prescribed in Regulation B; if such refusal is required by or made pursuant to such program.
b.  Regulation B, 12 C.F.R. Part 202.5, which is enforceable as a violation of the ECOA, per 15 U.S.C. § 1691a(g), makes it unlawful to:

(1)  Discourage applicants from applying for credit on a prohibited bases, e.g. because of their race, color, religion, national origin, sex, or marital status.

(2)  Request any information concerning the spouse or former spouse of an applicant absent a permissible purpose.  A creditor may request any information concerning an applicant's spouse or former spouse if: (i) The spouse will be permitted to use the account; (ii) The spouse will be contractually liable on the account; (iii) The applicant is relying on the spouse's income as a basis for repayment of the credit requested; (iv) The applicant resides in a community property state or property on which the applicant is relying as a basis for repayment of the credit requested is located in such a state; or (v) The applicant is relying on alimony, child support, or separate maintenance payments from a spouse or former spouse as a basis for repayment of the credit requested;

(3)  Inquire about the applicant's marital status when the applicant applies for individual unsecured credit, absent a permissible purpose.  A creditor may request this information if the applicant resides in a community property state or is relying on property located in such a state as a basis for repayment of the credit requested.  If an application is for other than individual unsecured credit, a creditor may inquire about the applicant's marital status, but the creditor cannot ask if the consumer is widowed or divorced.  A creditor may explain that the category unmarried includes single, divorced and widowed persons. 

(4)  Inquire whether the applicant receives alimony, child support, or separate maintenance payments, unless the creditor first discloses to the applicant that such income need not be revealed if the applicant does not want the creditor to consider it in determining the applicant's creditworthiness.  Note:  a creditor may ask the applicant if the applicant pays alimony, child support, or separate maintenance payments.

(5)  Inquire about the sex of an applicant. An applicant may be requested to designate a title on an application form (such as Ms., Miss, Mr., or Mrs.) if the form discloses that the designation of a title is optional.

(6)  Inquire about birth control practices, intentions concerning the bearing or rearing of children, or capability to bear children.  A creditor may inquire about the number and ages of an applicant's dependents or about dependent-related financial obligations or expenditures, provided such information is requested without regard to sex, marital status, or any other prohibited basis.

(7)  Inquire about the race, color, religion, or national origin of an applicant or any other person in connection with a credit transaction.  A creditor may ask the consumer to voluntarily disclose this information (except for religion) for monitoring purposes if the applicant is applying for credit secured by the applicant’s principle dwelling, per 12 C.F.R. Part 202.13.  This information helps federal agencies enforce anti-discrimination laws.  A creditor may inquire about an applicant's permanent residence and immigration status.

c.
After receipt of a completed application for credit, a creditor shall notify the applicant of its action on the application within 30 days—or such longer reasonable time as specified in regulations of the Federal Reserve Board for any class of credit transaction.  15 U.S.C. § 1691(d).  If the creditor denies, revokes, or changes the terms of an existing credit arrangement, or refuses to grant credit in substantially the amount or on substantially the terms requested by the consumer, then the creditor is obligated to give the consumer, in writing, the specific reasons for such action.  15 U.S.C. § 1691(d).
4.  Penalties.  Creditors who violate the ECOA, including Regulation B, are subject to specific penalties unless the creditor shows the act or omission was done in good faith (see, generally, 15 U.S.C. § 1691e(e)):

a.  Actual damages.  15 U.S.C. § 1691e(a)

b.  Punitive damages not greater than $10,000, subject to limitations in class-action suits.  15 U.S.C. § 1691e(b).

c.  Costs and attorney's fees.  15 U.S.C. § 1691e(d).

d.  A lawsuit must be begun by the consumer within 2 years of the violation.  15 U.S.C. § 1691e(f).

F.  The Fair Debt Collection Practices Act (FDCPA)

1.  Purpose.  Congress enacted the Fair Debt Collection Practices Act (FDCPA), in 1977, as Title VIII of the Consumer Credit Protection Act.  The law is designed to eliminate abusive debt collection practices by debt collectors, to insure that those debt collectors who refrain from using abusive debt collection practices are not competitively disadvantaged, and to promote consistent State action to protect consumers against debt collection abuses.  See, generally, 15 U.S.C. § 1692 [Congressional findings and declaration of purpose].

2.  Authority.  15 U.S.C. § 1692, et seq.  The FDCPA is enforced by the Federal Trade Commission; however, per 15 U.S.C. § 1692l(d) the FTC is prohibited from promulgating trade regulation rules or other regulations with respect to the Act.

3.  Prohibitions – Communications with the consumer.  Without the prior consent of the consumer or a court order, a debt collector may not communicate with a consumer  (15 U.S.C. § 1692c):

(a)  At unusual or inconvenient times or places (8:00 A.M. – 9:00 P.M. at the consumer’s location is presumed convenient.

(b)  If the debt collector knows the consumer is represented by an attorney and knows or can readily ascertain the attorney’s name and address.

(c)  At the consumer's place of employment if the debt collector knows or has reason to know that the consumer's employer prohibits the consumer from receiving such communication.

(d)  After the consumer notifies the debt collector in writing that the consumer refuses to pay the debt or that the consumer wishes the debt collector to cease further communication with the consumer, except that the debt collector may notify the consumer that the debt collector intends to invoke a specific remedy.

4.  Prohibitions – Oppressive acts.  A debt collector may not engage in any conduct the natural consequence of which is to harass, oppress, or abuse any person in connection with a debt.  15 U.S.C. § 1692d.  A debt collector may not use any false, deceptive, or misleading representations in connection with the collection of any debt.  15 U.S.C. § 1692e.  A debt collector may not use unfair or unconscionable means to collect any debt.  15 U.S.C. § 1692f.

5.  Prohibitions – Contact with Third Parties (15 U.S.C. § 1692c).  A debt collector may contact third parties seeking debt collection assistance only if (1) The debtor has consented to such contact after collection efforts have begun, or (2) The debt collector has obtained a court order permitting such contact, or (3) Contact is reasonably necessary to effectuate a post-judgment judicial remedy.  Note:  debt collectors may contact third parties to a acquire information about a consumer’s location, subject to stringent restrictions.  See, generally, 15 U.S.C. § 1692b.

6.  Penalty.  Creditors who violate the FDCPA, are subject to the following penalties unless the debt collector shows by a preponderance of evidence that the violation was not intentional and resulted from a bona fide error notwithstanding the maintenance of procedures reasonably adapted to avoid any such error. (see, generally, 15 U.S.C. § 1692k):

a.  Actual damages.

b.  Additional statutory damages not greater than $1,000.

c.  Costs and attorney's fees.

d.  A lawsuit must be begun by the consumer within 1 year of the violation.

XIV.  Putting Areas Off-Limits – The Armed Forces Disciplinary Control Board
SOB.  Summarize the procedural requirements and limitations of the Armed Forces Disciplinary Control Board.

A.  References

1.  AFJI 31-213, Armed Forces Disciplinary Control Boards and Off-installation Liaison and Operations (30 June 1993). This is a joint regulation that is numbered for other services:  OPNAVINST 1620.2A , AFI 31-213, MCO 1620.2C, , AR 190-24, COMDTINST 1620.1D 

B.  Off-Limits Establishments and Areas

1.  Purposes.

a.  Maintain good discipline, health, morals, safety, and welfare of service members.

b.  Prevent service members from being exposed to or victimized by crime-conducive conditions.

2.  Effect of Off-limits Designation

a.  Service members are prohibited from entering establishments or areas declared off-limits.

b.  Violations subject the service member to discipline under appropriate regulations or the UCMJ.

c.  Family members should be made aware of the off-limits areas.

C.  The Role of Commanders.  Establishment of off-limits areas is a function of command.  Commanders retain substantial discretion to declare establishments or areas temporarily off-limits for their commands.  These areas are given first priority for review at the AFDCB.  Prior to initiating AFDCB action, installation commanders will attempt to correct adverse conditions or situations through the assistance of civic leaders or officials.

1.  The Armed Forces Disciplinary Control Board (AFDCB)

a.  Composition

(1)  Established at the installation base or station level.

(2)  Structured according to the needs of the command, but consider reps from the following functional areas:

(a)  Law Enforcement

(b)  Legal Counsel

(c)  Medical, Health, and Environmental Protections

(d)  Public Affairs

(e)  Equal Opportunity

(f)  Fire and Safety

(g)  Chaplain

(h)  Alcohol and Drug Abuse

(i)  Personnel and Community Activities

(3).  Commanders designate a board president and voting members in the written agreement establishing the board.  At most installations, the president is the Provost Marshal.

b.  Function

(1)  Advise and make recommendations to commanders concerning eliminating conditions which adversely affect the health, safety, morals, welfare, morale, and discipline of the Armed Forces.

(2)  Meet as designated by the forming commander.   

(3)  The Board makes recommendations as to the following conditions:

(a)  Disorders and Lack of Discipline

(b)  Prostitution

(c)  Sexually Transmitted Disease

(d)  Liquor Violations

(e)  Racial and other discriminatory practices

(f)  Alcohol and Drug Abuse

(g)  Criminal or illegal activities involving cults or (h)  hate groups

(i)  Illicit Gambling

(j)  Areas Susceptible to terrorist activities

(k)  Unfair commercial or consumer activities

(l)  Other undesirable conditions that may adversely affect members of the military or their families.

(4)  The Board coordinates with local and civil authorities regarding these conditions.

c.  Procedure

(1)  The Board receives and considers reports of the conditions cited above.

(2)  The board may investigate or visit an establishment, but if they do so, the President must submit a report of the findings and recommendations from the visit.

(3)  DUE PROCESS:  When the board concludes that conditions adverse to Armed Forces personnel exist, they must do the following before placing the establishment off-limits:

(a)  Notify the individual responsible (owner or manager).  This notification letter must be sent by certified mail.

(b)  The proprietor should be afforded an opportunity to appear before the board.

(c)  Conduct further investigation to determine whether improvements have been made.

(4)  Make a recommendation to the sponsoring commander.    The commander will approve or disapprove and notify the president.

(5)  The president will notify the proprietor of the outcome.

(6)  Commanders will publish a list of off-limits establishments

d.  Limitations.

(1)  Commanders may not post signs on private property (saying “off-limits.”)

(2)  OCONUS procedures must be consistent with the SOFA for that country.

(3)  Off-limits should only be imposed where there is substantive information supporting the action.  

e.  Removal.

(1)  The proprietor may petition for removal at any time. 

(2)  A change in ownership, management, or name does NOT in and of itself revoke the off-limits order.

(3)  Additionally, the Board should inspect off-limits establishments at least quarterly to ensure that continued limitations are justified.

(4)  Once the board is convinced that adequate corrective measures have been taken, they should forward a recommendation for removal to the commander.
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